### §325. Corporators and members

## 1. Corporators of mutual financial institutions.

- A. The persons named in the articles of incorporation constitute the original board of corporators of a mutual financial institution. Membership on this board continues until terminated pursuant to the articles of incorporation or bylaws or by death, resignation or disqualification as provided in this section. [RR 2009, c. 1, §10 (COR).]
- B. [PL 2009, c. 19, §2 (RP).]
- C. All corporators must be residents of the geographic area that the financial institution serves or an area proximate to this geographic area. A person may not continue as a corporator after ceasing to be a resident of the financial institution's geographic area or an area proximate to this geographic area. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §10 (AMD).]
- D. Any corporator failing to attend the annual meeting of the board of corporators for 2 successive years ceases to be a member of the board unless reelected by a vote of the remaining corporators. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §10 (AMD).]
- E. The number of corporators may be fixed or altered by the bylaws of the financial institution, and vacancies may be filled by election at any annual meeting. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §10 (AMD).]
- F. The superintendent has the power to comment upon the sociological composition, as defined in section 131, of the board of corporators of any mutual or cooperative financial institution. This comment may be made in the form and manner the superintendent considers appropriate. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §10 (AMD).]

[RR 2009, c. 1, §10 (COR).]

#### 2. Members of a cooperative financial institution; qualifications and voting rights.

- A. The members of a cooperative financial institution organized pursuant to this chapter must be those in whose names accounts are established and persons borrowing from or assuming or obligated upon a loan held by such institution or purchasing property and assuming the secured loan held by such institution. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §11 (AMD).]
- B. A single membership in a cooperative financial institution may be held by 2 or more persons, and a joint and survivorship relationship and successor relationship, whether investors or borrowers, constitutes a single membership. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §11 (AMD).]
- C. Each member 18 years of age or over is entitled to one vote at any meeting of the cooperative financial institution, regardless of the number of shares or accounts standing in that member's name, provided that only one vote is allowed on an account held by 2 or more persons. A member may not vote by proxy at any meeting, unless otherwise provided in this Title. The bylaws may prohibit voting by persons who have become members within 6 months of the date when the vote is cast. When accounts or shares are pledged, the pledgor may vote the accounts or shares so pledged. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §11 (AMD).]
- D. Membership terminates when the amount of a member's shares or accounts has been paid in full to that member, or when the transfer of membership to other persons has been recorded on the books of the financial institution, or when that member's status as a borrower from the institution terminates. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §11 (AMD).]

[PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §11 (AMD).]

#### 3. Powers and duties of corporators and members.

- A. Corporators or members shall hold regular annual meetings, at a time fixed in the bylaws of the institution, for the purpose of electing directors of the institution and for the transaction of any other business which may properly be brought before such meeting. [PL 1975, c. 500, §1 (NEW).]
- B. Special meetings of the corporators or members may be called at any time by the president of the institution, or in any other manner provided for in the bylaws. [PL 1975, c. 500, §1 (NEW).]
- C. Notice of the annual meeting or any special meeting shall be given by public advertisement in a newspaper or newspapers of general circulation in the county or counties where each office of the institution is located, or in such other newspapers as the superintendent may designate; provided that corporators shall also be sent notice by mail at their last known address. The notice shall be published on at least 2 different days and in such manner as to be reasonably conspicuous. The last publication of notice shall be at least 7 days prior to such annual or special meeting. Notice of any special meeting shall state the purpose for which such meeting is called. [PL 1975, c. 666, §15 (RPR).]
- D. The bylaws must prescribe the number of corporators or members that constitute a quorum at any annual or special meeting. The bylaws may also provide for voting by proxy. [PL 1997, c. 398, Pt. D, §12 (AMD).]
- E. Meetings of the corporators or members must be held at the institution's principal office, at such other place in the area of this State served by the institution as the notice designates or by means of remote communication under paragraph F. [PL 2021, c. 188, §1 (AMD).]
- F. The board of directors may authorize, subject to guidelines and procedures as the board may adopt, a meeting of corporators or members to be conducted by means of remote communication with no fixed place or may authorize a corporator or member or holder of a proxy of a corporator or member who is not physically present at a meeting of corporators or members to join the meeting by means of remote communication. A corporator or member or holder of a proxy of a corporator or member in a meeting of corporators or members held remotely or who joins a meeting of corporators or members by means of remote communication may:
  - (1) Participate in the meeting;
  - (2) Be deemed present in person at the meeting; and
  - (3) Vote at the meeting if the institution has implemented reasonable measures:
    - (a) To verify that a person who has joined by means of remote communication a meeting of corporators or members is a corporator, member or holder of a proxy of a corporator or member;
    - (b) To provide a corporator, member or holder of a proxy of a corporator or member who has joined by means of remote communication a meeting of corporators or members a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the corporators and members, including an opportunity to communicate with, read and hear the proceedings, substantially concurrently with the proceedings; and
    - (c) To maintain a record of the presence of and a vote or any other action taken by a corporator, member or holder of a proxy of a corporator or a member who has joined by means of remote communication a meeting of corporators and members. [PL 2021, c. 188, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2021, c. 188, §§1, 2 (AMD).]

**4. Articles of incorporation.** The corporators or members shall have the right to amend the institution's articles of incorporation in any manner not inconsistent with this Title; provided that such amendments are submitted to the superintendent for his written approval prior to their taking effect. [PL 1975, c. 500, §1 (NEW).]

**5. Bylaws.** Bylaws may be amended and added to by the corporators or members or directors of the institution except to the extent limited by the articles of incorporation or unless such power has been reserved by the articles of incorporation or granted by the corporators to the board of directors. Amendments to the bylaws shall be submitted to the superintendent and shall become effective 10 days after such submission unless the superintendent shall otherwise indicate to the institution. [PL 1977, c. 155, §1 (AMD).]

# SECTION HISTORY

PL 1975, c. 500, §1 (NEW). PL 1975, c. 666, §§14,15 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 155, §1 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 398, §§D10-12 (AMD). RR 2009, c. 1, §10 (COR). PL 2009, c. 19, §§1, 2 (AMD). PL 2021, c. 188, §§1, 2 (AMD).

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include the following disclaimer in your publication:

All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects changes made through the Second Regular Session of the 131st Legislature and is current through October 15, 2024. The text is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.

The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our goal is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to preserve the State's copyright rights.

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.